Public Document Pack

Cheshire E@,

Council%

Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning
and Regeneration

Agenda

Date: Thursday, 16th November, 2017
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press.
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making and
Overview and Scrutiny meetings are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to
the Council’s website.

PART 1 — MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence
To receive any apologies for absence.
2. Declarations of Interest

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable pecuniary and
non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session

In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is allocated for
members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relevant to the work of the body
in question. Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the
Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking
will be apportioned where there are a number of speakers. Members of the public are not
required to give notice to use this facility. However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24
hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at least three
clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with that notice. This will
enable an informed answer to be given.

Contact: Gaynor Hawthornthwaite
Tel: 01270 686467
E-Mail: Gaynor.hawthornthwaite@cheshireeast.gov.uk



4.

Housing Strategy 2018-2023 - Approval to Consult (Pages 3 - 68)

To consider a report on the Housing Strategy 2018-2023 for consultation purposes.



Page 3 Agenda Item 4

Cheshire East Council

Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and Regeneration

Date of Meeting: 16 November 2017

Report of: Frank Jordan — Executive Director of Place

Subject/Title: Cheshire East Council Housing Strategy 2018-2023:
Approval to consult

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ainsley Arnold: Housing and Planning

1. Report Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to formally consult externally for
the Cheshire East Council Housing Strategy 2018-2023, the proposed
consultation is for a 6 week period between 27 November 2017 and 08
January 2018.

1.2 Driven by the Cheshire East Local Plan, the Housing Strategy is a significant
contributor to achieving the aims and objectives of the Corporate Plan and the
resident focused outcomes. Our approach is based upon the continuation and
building of strong relationships with our partners to further improve the quality,
quantity and choice of housing within Cheshire East, enhancing place and
wellbeing, through meeting the aspirations and needs of all our residents both
now and in the future.

1.3 There can rarely have been a more important time to set out our distinctive
vision for the future of homes in our Borough and outline the steps we are
determined to take to achieve it. We strongly believe that housing is
fundamentally about Place and People, not just bricks and mortar - housing is
about homes, it is a foundation for a stable and successful life.

1.4 The development of the Housing Strategy is primarily informed and shaped by
engagement with our partners and other stakeholders. Approval to formally
consult will enable a wide ranging number of individuals and organisations to
contribute to support our aims and objectives.

2, Recommendation
2.1 It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning:
" Note the draft Housing Strategy

. Authorise officers to publically consult on the draft strategy for a period
of 6 weeks, before incorporating the responses into the finalised strategy

" Note that following the consultation period the revised strategy will be
presented to Cabinet for formal adoption



5.2

5.3

Page 4

Other Options Considered

There are no alternative options considered. The existing Housing Strategy
which ran from 2011-2016, now requires updating to align with the Council’s
aspirations as outlined in the key Communities Outcomes, the ambitions
represented within the Local Plan and to enable us to keep up with the pace
of change in the housing sector.

Reasons for Recommendation

Approval to formally consult on the Housing Strategy will be the catalyst
enabling the Council to:

. Articulate the vision, aims and objectives of Cheshire East Council
Housing Strategy 2018-2023

" Support the delivery of the right home in the right place across the
Borough

] Allow us to focus on what matters to our communities and support the
Council’s vision of Putting Residents at the heart of everything we do

" Support the delivery of Cheshire East Council’'s Mid-Term Financial
Strategy 2017-2020

Background / Chronology

Cheshire East is committed to meeting the needs of its local communities and
providing the infrastructure, services and facilities required to create
sustainable and stronger communities. Part of this is ensuring that we have
the right housing offer to meet our ambitions for the Council’s jobs-led
economic growth, but also that they are of the right mix to meet the diverse
housing needs across the Borough.

To support our ambitions, we have worked extensively to fully appreciate the
challenges and opportunities recently experienced by the housing sector, to
ensure we are prepared for the future direction of policy at a national level,
shaping it at the local level to continue the Council’s successful drive for
excellence. As such, we have developed a draft Housing Strategy through
informal engagement with a host of internal and external stakeholders, in
preparation for approval to formally consult.

Since the publication of our previous Housing Strategy in 2011, there have
been significant changes to the local and national political, policy and funding
landscape. This new Strategy reflects these changes, and is underpinned by
our Local Plan, supportive policies and strategies which will enable us to
achieve our priorities for housing within the Borough.



5.4

9.5

6.1

Page 5

The draft Housing Strategy has two themes;

Growth and Cheshire East has a strong ambition for jobs-led economic
quality of place  growth across all areas and housing is essential to support

Health,

this continuous growth. If housing is considered in isolation
to our planned investment and regeneration, then
sustainable growth or successful outcomes are unlikely to
be achieved. We know that ensuring new homes are
delivered of the right type, in the right place and giving
resident’s choices and support are vital for Cheshire East.
Where the market is not currently meeting housing need we
will explore interventions to bring these forward.

A key goal of our Housing Strategy is to guarantee Cheshire

wellbeing and  East residents have a place to live which supports their
quality of life health, wellbeing and contributes to the quality of life. Good

quality, safe and affordable housing is essential to meeting
this goal. Therefore, this strategy details how we link our
policy decision making with outcomes that support the
health and wellbeing of all Cheshire East residents.

Central to making this Housing Strategy a success is to ensure we effectively
plan, measure and monitor how we will deliver the priorities detailed within this
document, which will be achieved through an agreed Delivery Plan, a tool to
help us deliver our strategy. The Delivery Plan will be subject to annual
reviews during the lifetime of the Strategy, ensuring the priorities remains
relevant and their delivery is continually monitored.

Wards Affected and Local Ward Members

All wards and local ward Members.

Implications of Recommendation

71
7.1.1

7.1.2

Policy Implications

The Housing Strategy is a key deliverable to support the overarching
achieving Council’s objectives of delivering the right type of housing in
the right place and regenerating our towns and villages as well as
supporting the health and wellbeing of our residents.

Through directly supporting both the Corporate Plan and the Mid-
Term Financial Strategy, the Housing Strategy clearly demonstrates
that there is a clear role to play in supporting the delivery of the
community aims and objectives, directly through the opportunities
presented to achieve the key community outcomes for residents and
to continue to provide excellent customer service and value for
money.



7.1.3

7.2
7.2.1

7.3
7.3.1

7.4
7.4.1

7.5
7.5.1

Page 6

Moreover, the Housing Strategy has an important contribution to the
continued jobs-led economic growth of Cheshire East and the wider
sub-region. Through the our support for the work of the Cheshire and
Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership, we fully acknowledge the
importance of the recently reviewed Strategic Economic Plan, which
clearly sets out the role of housing in future economic development
and replicates our ambition to increase supply and ensure that
affordability issues across the authority are addressed.

Legal Implications

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 Section 87, the
Council published a Housing Strategy in 2011, which set out its vision
for housing in the borough. While the Deregulation Act 2015
abolished the statutory requirement for English authorities to produce
a housing strategy as previously require, the aim of the new Housing
Strategy 2018-2023 is to support the priorities for housing in Cheshire
East over the next five years, across all tenures to meet housing
need. It will contribute to the Council’'s overarching strategic
objectives.

Financial Implications

The eventual implication of the Housing Strategy does not envisaged
that there will be a major financial investment required by Cheshire
East, however if funding was required for individual projects, a full
business case would be compiled which would consider all financing
options (both internal and external) and any potential risks to the
Council. Such business cases will follow the established route for
ratification including gateway approvals at the appropriate points in
accordance with the Council’s project management protocols.

Equality Implications

An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out for the
development of the draft Housing Strategy. It has been determined
that there are no groups who will be negatively impacted by the
Strategy. It was assessed that a full Impact Assessment was not
required. A further update of the Equality Impact Assessment will be
undertaken during the consultation period and involve our partners
and other stakeholders.

Rural Community Implications

Rural communities will positively benefit from the introduction of the
Strategy, as it aims to address how we can provide access to
affordable housing of mix tenures in all neighbourhoods of Cheshire
East.



Page 7

Human Resources Implications
There are no direct Human Resources implications.
Public Health Implications

There are no specific implications for Public Health with the exception
of anticipation that a collaborative and supportive relationship is
maintained in delivering the Strategy priorities through the Delivery
Plan. However, this Housing Stategy has clear health benefits which
will contribute towards the Council’s agenda — Outcome 5, People live
well and for longer.

Implications for Children and Young People

It is envisaged that there are positive impact of the provision of
services for children and young people as care leavers, as there are
specific reference to improving pathways between services as well as
ensuring that young people are supported in accessing a breadth of
accommodation and support to enable them to live independently.

Other Implications (Please Specify)

There are no further implications.

Risk Management

While the assessment, mitigation and management of risk is overseen
through the Council’'s governance arrangements associated with residential
growth, as with any strategy, there is a risk that strategic direction does not
translate into action on the ground. This has been mitigated by the creation of
a comprehensive Delivery Plan for each priority and will be monitored
annually.

Access to Information / Bibliography

Cheshire East Council Housing Strategy 2018-2023: Draft for consultation

Cheshire East Council Housing Strategy 2018-2023 Draft for consultation:
Equality Impact Assessment

Contact Information

Contact details for this report are as follows:

7.6
7.6.1
7.7
7.71
7.8
7.8.1
7.9
7.9.1

8.

8.1

9.

9.1

9.2

10.

Name:

Designation:

Tel. No:

Email:

Gerard Buckley
Housing Policy Officer
01270 6 (85827)

gerard.buckley@cheshireeast.gov.uk



mailto:gerard.buckley@cheshireeast.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



20
<§§§b
3
g

Cheshire East

ALY
o,

-
-

Council

Growth and quality of place
Health, wellbeing and quality of life

"Housing Strategy 2018-2023
[Draft for consultation]

| ..._...“....ww.ﬁ..»‘//
)
p.iupﬂ‘

»
-

r 5=
-

#cw, Y
o AN




Page 10

Contents

Consultation 3
Foreword 4
Introduction 6
Our priorities 8
Challenges and opportunities 9
How the strategy links 12
Housing in Cheshire East 13
Key Facts 13
Growth and quality of place 14
Health, wellbeing and quality of life 32
Conclusion 49
Delivering the Strategy 50

Front cover:

Thorntree Lower Withington
[Peaks and Plains Housing Trust]



file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826698
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826699
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826700
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826701
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826702
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826703
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826704
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826705
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826706
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826707
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/Housing/Housing%20Strategy%202017/01.%20Working/01.%20New%20Draft/01.%20MASTER/01.%20Master%20To%20Consult/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20%5bv1%5d.docx%23_Toc497826708

Page 11

Consultation

Cheshire East Council would like to produce a new
Housing Strategy for the period 2018 to 2023, the
Strategy sets out how the council’s plan to increase and
improve housing within the Borough.

The consultation runs for 6 weeks from 27 November
2017 with a deadline for response by 5pm on 08
January 2018.

You can participate in the consultation through an on-
line survey, please visit;

Online Survey:

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/housingstrategyconsultation

Email us:

housingpolicy@cheshireeast.gov.uk



http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/housingstrategyconsultation
mailto:housingpolicy@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 12

Foreword

Welcome to Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2018 to
2023. The Strategy has two central themes:

Growth and quality of place

Cheshire East has a strong ambition for jobs-led
economic growth across all areas and housing is
essential to support this continuous growth. If housing
is considered in isolation to our planned investment and
regeneration, then sustainable growth or successful
outcomes are unlikely to be achieved. We know that
ensuring new homes delivered are of the right type, in
the right place and giving resident’s choices and
support are vital for Cheshire East. Where the market is
not currently meeting housing need we will explore
interventions to bring these forward.

Health, wellbeing and quality of life

A key goal of our Housing Strategy
is to guarantee Cheshire East
residents have a place to live that
supports their health, wellbeing
and contributes to the quality of

life. Good quality, safe and o

affordable housing is essential to 6
meeting this goal. Therefore, this Ao 1
Strategy details how we link our I e A

policy decision making with
outcomes that support the health
and wellbeing of all Cheshire East
residents.

Outcome
These themes allow us to focus on 5

what matters to our communities People live well

and for longer

and support the Council’s vision of
Putting Residents at the heart of
everything we do, these will be
delivered through our key
Community Outcomes™:

! Cheshire East Council: Corporate Plan 2017-2020

Outcome

p

Cheshire East has a
strong & resilient
economy

Outcome

3

People have the life

skills and education

they need in order
to thrive




Page 13

Since the publication of our previous Housing Strategy
in 2011, there have been significant changes to the
local and national political, policy and funding
landscape.

This new Strategy reflects these changes, and is
underpinned by our Local Plan, supportive policies and
strategies which will enable us to achieve our priorities
for housing in the Borough.

We have been extremely busy since the publication of
the previous Strategy, and in the past 3 years we have
successfully worked with our partners to deliver almost
1400 affordable homes and brought 243 empty homes
back into use. We have increased resident’s
opportunities for homes through our Housing Options
Team by providing homes for 5,400 people and
families, preventing over 2,000 individuals and families
becoming homeless.

We have increased our relationships with private rented
landlords and provided direct support for our most
vulnerable residents, for example we have completed
almost 6,000 adaptations at a cost over £4 million, to
enable some of our vulnerable residents to live
independently.

But there is still more work to be done - which is
developed throughout this new Strategy; a strategy to
support Cheshire East for the future.

Councillor Ainsley Arnold
Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning



Page 14

Introduction

All residents in Cheshire East are able to access affordable, appropriate and decent
accommodation

Cheshire East is a great place to live, work, study and
visit, it is well placed for the continued opportunities that
our thriving job-based economic growth are providing
across all areas of the Borough. The Housing Strategy
support’s the Council to achieve aims and objectives for
housing in the Borough, working to improve the quality,
choice and supply of housing for current and future
residents. With a population of 376,700 and estimated
to grow to 427,100 by 2030° [13.4% increase], housing
of the right type and in the right place is an important

part of supporting sustainable growth.

Such growth is being shaped and informed by our
Local Plan and major regeneration projects, working
towards a sustainable economy, supporting and
encouraging growth and prosperity in all parts of the
Borough. The Council’s success in attracting
investment for the creation of new jobs and business
growth has created increased demand for housing,
whether to rent or buy.

In the process of achieving the successful outcomes, it
is acknowledged that the Strategy will have a key role
to play in contributing to the continued economic
development of our Borough, sustaining our unique
character and identity and protecting our important
environmental assets and heritage. As we work
towards supporting Cheshire East Council’s key
Community Outcomes through Putting Residents at the
heart of everything we do, it remains clear that housing
is a key priority for all of us to make sure we deliver
successful outcomes for our residents.

Housing plays a significant role in people’s quality of
life; their health and wellbeing; access to work, training
and educational attainment, and leisure activities are all
influenced by where they live. The quality of housing,
its costs and location is of primary importance to ensure
everyone can participate in their community.

%2016 Mid-year population estimates, Office for National Statistics,
NOMIS, Crown Copyright

3 Population forecasts produced by Opinion Research Services for
the 2015 Cheshire East Housing Development Study



Ourselves

Our partners

Our residents

Page 15

Cheshire East shares the same fundamental
aspirations set out in the Government’s White paper
‘Fixing our broken housing market’, which articulates
how they intend to increase housing supply, accelerate
delivery and explore the use of modern methods of
construction. Where the market is not delivering the
type of housing provision needed across Cheshire
East, there is a case for intervention, as long as the
risks are measured and do not distort or restrict the
market.

Why do we need a Housing Strategy and who is it
for?

To make sure housing makes a key contribution to
the delivery of the Local Plan ambition, protecting
and enhancing the ‘Quality of Place’

In supporting the delivery, we will make the most of
opportunities that are available to work with our
partners in seeking new and imaginative ways to
inform and influence successful outcomes

We will continue to facilitate opportunities for a mixed
tenure of affordable housing and support people with
identified need



Page 16

Our priorities

Stimulate the housing

. market Improve the housing
SHquU;(')rr‘?jggse_rlég offer for an ageing
growth population
Promote independent GI‘Q h and Challenge poor quality
living quali place housing
L X 4
Prevent H : Support regeneration
homelessness 9 1 improve quality of our
a e place
Support the Medium Commission housing
Term Financial Growth support for people with
Strategy complex needs

Promote
Affordable Warmth



Page 17

Challenges and opportunities

We have achieved a great deal since our previous
Housing Strategy, helping shape and inform the quality,
guantity and choice of housing in Cheshire East, As we
now work to support and inform the continued growth,
we acknowledge that there are challenges and
opportunities, with some challenges emerging from
national policy and legislation and some from our
unique and diverse local housing market, including;

» Increasing the number of quality, mixed tenure,
smaller type family homes available within the
Borough to meet the needs of existing families
and those moving into Cheshire East to take up
employment opportunities

* Maintaining a housing delivery enabling role in
the economic regeneration of our town centres,
villages and our neighbourhoods

= Working with our partners in the provision of
accommodation for 18 -35 years olds who are on
low incomes and / or in receipt of benefits

* Improving the housing offer for an ageing
population. Provision of smaller homes for older
people to meet changes in household types;
help those with special needs; dementia friendly;
making existing homes suitable for independent
living and provide a mix of housing on larger
developments, including single storey
accommodation as a choice

= Moreover, through improving the housing offer
for an ageing population, support people who
want to downsize by providing a greater choice
of housing

» Intervention where the market is unable to meet
housing needs including the stimulation of
growth in the private rented sector

It is clear that Cheshire East has a need for more
homes at different stages of our resident’s lives. In
shaping our response, housing research including the
Cheshire East Housing Development Study 2015*

4 Opinion Research Services 2015



10

Page 18

identifies the Objectively Assessed Need for housing in
Cheshire East and the Council’s Local Plan identifies
sites to meet this need and housing requirement.

While there is a need for new homes to support our
successful economy, there is also a need to address
the challenges in the existing stock. The condition of
existing stock improves each year but there is also still
much to be done particularly in the growth and
improvement of the private rented sector; the
increasing contribution and challenges Houses in
Multiple Occupation is bringing to the market;
promoting affordable warmth and working with our
partners as our neighbourhoods go through periods of
regeneration and housing renewal.

Previously, a substantial number of Local Authorities
took the decision to transfer their housing stock to
external organisations to manage and to also develop
further affordable housing. However, we are now
seeing a number of authorities taking the decision to
start to develop in their own right, utilising different
mechanisms to achieve this including the establishment
of Housing Development Companies, Joint Ventures
and the utilisation of land assets. Local Authorities are
also taking the decision to intervene in the housing
market to bring
forward
additional
affordable
housing,
bringing in vital
revenue
streams.

Cheshire East
has the
opportunity to
utilise their land
assets to meet
housing needs,
which are not
fully being met by the market. Disposal of land assets
will also providing much needed revenue to the
Council.

Therefore, this Housing Strategy comes at a time of
great change and reform. It is evident that recent
changes in legislation and national policy have created
challenges and opportunities for all areas of Cheshire



Page 19

East, resulting in a need for the Council to think more
innovatively about how we deliver quality services with
fewer resources. Welfare reform and austerity
measures have resulted in reductions of available
income to spend on housing for residents and
registered housing providers

This Strategy will explore our challenges in more detalil
and provide potential solutions, and in turn highlight
opportunities available for all residents of Cheshire
East.

11



Sustainable Community

Strategy
2010-2025

Cheshire and Warrington

Local Enterprise Partnership
Strategic Economic Plan

Cheshire and Warrington

Local Enterprise Partnership
Constellation Partnership

)

( How the strategy links
Corporate Plan
2017-2020
Local Plan
_ _ _ 2010-2030
Mid Term Financial
Strategy
2017-2020
Place

Housing Strategy
2018-2023

Health and Wellbeing
Strategy

Economic Strategy

Place
Regeneration Strategies
Crewe Macclesfield

Place
Strategy

0z abed



Page 21

Housing in Cheshire East

ity 14,
ﬂOTdab‘pro ice £2 lement \eve
e .
pveras dincome Sio ¢56,7001"
Median WOV a00in Cr€
anges
prestouty ,
cK
017 | PaYeR®
ctry May 2
W dReg\S
Health...
= Lastyear, we reduced costs in the local health

economy by over £2million by helping 173
vulnerable residents with heating problems

=  Forevery £1 we invest in heating there is a cost
benefit of £18.51 to the health and care system

Housing Repairs and Adaptations for Vulnerable People Policy
2017

Local economy... Cheshi
provides e Bast

Around 195,000 jobs within the Borough

The economic output [Gross Value Added] of
8% of the North West GVA

" 7.4% of the region’s businesses
BRES 2016 survey, ONS

Regional GVA dat: )
2015 - ONS a, ONS, Dec 2016 / Business Demography —

Key Facts

Demand...

Cheshire Homechoice maintained an average of
6,427 individuals and households registrations
over the past 3 years

355 new affordable homes needed each year
during the lifetime of this Strategy

Tenure_

Of the 166

Te5 236 dwellings ;

ow n .
ner OCcupatio, Chesh,,-e East:

13% pyi
% Prlvate Rented S
€cto
11% Socia| housin r

Census 2011

ase
\ g5% incr
‘ers- owe \N\\\ seed ber of O\de
Occup 2010and 2 E o with th \m:/
. Betwee ement 28€ un 134%
peopl® ?85 ]incred ing bY 21 long te
eople . . es'\d. ses their day
7 oo of Ches \o Jisability parable
nealth C.O_“,;:" . \'\\'\'\‘\ted !
a act\\l\
° \{c‘\ona\\\l at83% ]
201
{Local Pan
neshire Eas
%eens\lS ot
Hoygi
S
R 'ng Co ts
€quireq ho o0
quartile Useho|q me ¢
Requ; "8 b3 ODUrchase lowe
€quired jp, ome Incom £3855 g
[t Irdo m nt lOw 4 1
Onthly eapp; "Quartije
ngS] - £1'44 OUSIng



14

Page 22

Growth and quality of place

Cheshire East is a popular place to live, work, study
and visit, and through our effective drive to be the Best
in the North West, we have been enormously
successful in attracting investment for the creation of
new jobs and
business growth,
and this has led to
increased demand
for housing, whether
to rent or buy. As a
gateway to the
Northern
Powerhouse,
Cheshire East is
enjoying the benefits
of targeted major
regeneration
programmes and
Masterplans from
the investment in a
high-speed rall
connection [HS2]
and its significance
for Crewe and the wider sub-regional area, through to
direct development for Macclesfield.

Our new Housing Strategy comes at a time of funding
challenges faced by the council, the wider public sector,
registered housing providers and the third sector. In
addition, individuals and households are experiencing
higher costs of living, including spending on
accommodation and heating costs, all of which means
we must seek to achieve our strategic objectives by
making the best use of the resources available and
promoting fresh, innovative, and new ideas.

To meet this demand, Cheshire East Council, along
with our key stakeholders, acknowledge that our
Strategic Housing role must link decisions for homes
with economic growth throughout the Borough, to make
sure that the Right Homes are in the Right Place,
seek to ensure that all new housing is located with
good access to employment, healthcare, schools, retail
and other facilities, so enabling low car use, sustainable
travel and greater quality of life.



Page 23

Housing is far more than bricks and mortar - it's about
having an inclusive role to play in the investment of new
homes; health and wellbeing of residents and makes a
major contribution to the economic growth of an area. It
Is essential that the range of new homes are built and
provided in the right places to provide housing options
equally for all residents, to support new jobs, with good
public transport links, and access to appropriate local
facilities, so that communities can grow and thrive.

We explore such aspects within the theme of Growth
and quality of place, set out our priorities and what we
intend to do at the end of the section through a Delivery
Plan.

Housing need

Housing needs evidence informs the overall strategic
direction. Due to Cheshire East’s projected population
increase, we will expect the number of households to
increase by 20% from the 2011 population of 159,441
to 191,000 by 2030. In addition, as the Local Plan
outlines, through economic growth, it is projected that
31,400 jobs will be created over the 20 year period
[2010 — 2030].

Increasing life expectancy means it is crucial we

continue to respond to the changing needs of our older
population and specific population groups through new
developments, refurbishment works to existing homes
and improved access to and range of housing options.

The Local Plan states that Cheshire East will have a
65% increase in the population aged 65 and above,
and a 134% increase in the population aged 85 and
above over the plan period. Moreover, with the older
population predicted to rise, there will also be a growing
number of households that include a member with a
disability along with people living with long-term health
conditions.

15



Page 24

Mid Year Estimates 2010
] Males Females
Demographic change 90and over

80
Between 2010 and 2016, the
population of Cheshire East is 70
estimated to have increased A
by 7,600 residents or 2.1%, g 60
which is an average annual ©
) 50
increase of around 0.3%. G
. 40
° 30
u
P 20
10
O I T T T 1
3% 2% 1% 0% 1% 2% 3%
gcl)\lusrce: MYE, 2010, Crown Copyright % in Age Group
Between this period, the
general trend was for the Mid year estimates 2016
age groups aged 40+ to Males Females
increase and for those 90 and over
under 40 to decrease. The 80
largest relative change was
in the 90+ age group, an 70
increase of 36.3% from A
3,200 to 4,300 residents. g 60
This increase was driven in 8 50
part due to the increase of &
males aged 90+. : 40
° 30
u
P 20
10
0 |
3% 2% 1% 0% 1% 2% 3%

Source: MYE, 2016, Crown Copyright % in Age Group
ONS



Page 25

The two orange charts indicate what the future
demographic profile of Cheshire East may look in 2030.
The projections in the first chart take recent
demographic trends and project them forward. The

Projections to 2030

forecasts in the second
chart use similar
trends, built also
account for the
anticipated housing
and economic
development and the
level of jobs growth set
out in the Cheshire
East Local Plan

Males Females
90 and over
80
70
A
g 60
e
50
G
: 40
° 30
u
P 20
10
0 T T T T
3% 2% 1% 0% 1% 2%
Source: Sub national ulation .
projects, 2014 :mse. g:;tvn u.t’.opvright % in Age GI’OUp

ONS

Males
90 and over
Between 2016 and 2030, the
projections show a possible 80
increase of 20,200 residents or 5
a 0.4% average annual A
increase. The forecasts show a g 60
possible increase of 50,400 or e
an average annual percentage =
increase that is nearly double ? 40
that of the projections at 0.7%. %
u 30
P 20
10
0o . |
3% 2%

Source: Local Plan forecasts, 2010
base, Opinion Research Services

3%

Forecasts to 2030

Females

T

1% 0% 1% 2%

% in Age Group

3%

17



18

Page 26

Affordability

Housing is expensive in Cheshire East, the average
house price® of £214,000 [mean] is currently 9.8%
below the England & Wales average [£238,000], but
exceed the regional average [£157,000] by 36.2%.

Notably, over
the last two P& \ |
decades the -
Cheshire East
average
housing price
has declined
significantly in
comparison to
the England &
Wales average.
In July 1995,
the average
Cheshire East
property price

House Prices : Average Household Earnings

was 9.7%
above the .
En gland & 2] Settlement Ratio [25] [ 5.8-7.2 [4] (1] Avg (median) housenait mcome, 2014, CACI Lid
/\\ 1 46-54 [4] B 73-79 [51 [2] House Prices (median), year to end Mar 2017, Land Registry
i Cheshir e EaS’P\z - Ref. O’N\Randc\@;!s:rey:tgs'\l:a(r::ecsl\;gf 7@316 7?3? I‘/s:ryGevard_Euckley-

Wales figure. g [ 55-57(6]  WM80-137 [6] T S 1:355,587

ounci F - i

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100049045

Among the

Borough’s towns®, Crewe has the lowest median house
price [£125,000], followed by Middlewich [£153,000],
Macclesfield [£166,000], Congleton [£173,000] and
Alsager [£175,000]; median prices in Nantwich and
Sandbach are close to the Cheshire East average but
still below it. In contrast, median prices are far above
the Cheshire East median in Wilmslow [£342,000],
Knutsford [£330,000] and Poynton [£275,000] and to a
lesser extent in Handforth [£225,000]. For smaller
settlements, median prices range from under £185,000
in Haslington and Shavington to over £400,000 in
Bunbury, Prestbury and Wrenbury. Outside the 24 main
settlements, where the population tends to be more
sparsely distributed, the median price is well above the
Borough median, at £295,000.

® Land Registry July 2017 [Published September 2017]
® Land Registry for the year ending March 2017




Page 27

As can be seen, we have seen slight reductions in
house prices within the area, residents experience
considerable disparity in the average purchase prices
within the borough, between the north of the Borough
[with its strong link with south Manchester] to Crewe in
the south of the borough. In addition, evidence
highlights disparities between affordability within
smaller market towns and traditional rural, with
Prestbury in the north area experiencing 9.4; Goostrey

e - : — inthe central
House Prices Sales (median) by Settlement 0 : o o~ F area with 7.1

and Wrenbury
in the south with
10.8. '

Nationally,
around 1in5
adults aged 31
to 44, who don’t
already have

children, are
delaying
starting a family
because of
concerns about
housing.?
P i | - Sources: N
R e Mo e rorEmEtmeness )\ | Young people,
Cheshire EastZ o oo W s4s-£s751e Wi Sl or iSEiE especially those
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100049045 | n vu | ne rab | e

groups such as
people leaving care and people with complex needs are
finding it particularly difficult to find a suitable home.

In addition, as the Cheshire East Local Plan outlines, it
is projected that the total number of jobs will grow by
7,700 [an average of about 1,500 per year] over the
lifespan of this Strategy. Demand for housing is high
and it remains important that we are prepared for such
challenges. In doing so, we continually gather
information in accordance with affordability for the
residents in the borough and work with stakeholders to
make sure we have accurate information to reflect
housing need and aspirations.

7 Measured in terms of settlement. Average [median] household income is from
PayCheck 2014, ©Copyright CACI Limited. This Report shall be used for academic,
personal and /or non-commercial purposes. Housing price data produced by Land
Registry [c] Crown copyright 2014. Obtained from the Land Registry website on
22/12/14.

8 Council for Mortgage Lenders October 2016

19



20

Page 28

Land supply

The ability for us to achieve our vision, aims, objectives
and aspirations for Cheshire East are affected by the
lack of affordable homes to both purchase and rent.
Whilst we seek to develop a programme of increasing
housing supply, there are insufficient development
opportunities in the right places, to build the homes we
need.

The Local Plan Strategy highlights we need to work
further to ensure the continued supply of available land
to meet both current and future housing need, working
with residents and strategic partners to helps us identify
sites for housing.

Private Rented Sector

The private rented sector [PRS] makes an important
contribution to the housing offer and offers tremendous
flexibility to directly support our continued job-led
growth for existing and incoming labour force.

Traditionally, the sector has not been Cheshire East: Housing

the tenure of choice, mainly due to tenure change
concerns of security of tenure and 2001 -2011 [Cenus] .
property conditions. 359 ® Owner occupation

The private rented sector has seen M Private rented sector

rapid growth and is now the second
largest tenure behind home ownership;
owner-occupations 119,581, private
rented 19,930; social housing 18,176,
which equates to a 5.5% increase over -1.20%
a ten year period.’

Social housing

B Tied accommodation

Cheshire East fully supports a well managed and
flexible PRS, in which it will offer opportunities in all
areas of the Borough for further housing solutions.
Moreover, the major regeneration of our town centres in
Crewe and the area in and around Macclesfield offer
unique possibilities for higher-end PRS flats and family
size accommodation, to attract younger people and
further support the ambitions of jobs-led growth within
the Borough. The Council has carried out a study into
the PRS in Cheshire East and has found there is a
need for new development in all towns in Cheshire but
particularly in Crewe and Macclesfield

° Census 2011



Page 29

Additionally through legislation, the sector now enables
our Homelessness Service to support homeless or at
risk of homelessness individuals or families with an
immediate solution. As such we will work to increase
the supply of good quality and well managed private
rented accommodation available to manage demand
and offer a flexible, quick housing option. Since 2010,
consecutive central Governments’ have highlighted the
increased capacity of the PRS as a tenure of choice, to
which we are now seeking to explore our role in
successfully enabling direct invention into further
growth of the sector,

Market Housing

A neighbourhood with a mix of housing tenures, types
and sizes will be more able to meet the changing needs
and aspirations of its residents, through changing life
stages, household shapes and sizes or changes in
income. Providing greater housing choice increases the
opportunities for households to remain within their
communities and promotes social equality and inclusion
by easing geographical constraints on the search for
appropriate homes.

The Local Plan sets out the requirements for new
residential development by stating that developments
should maintain provision of and contribute to a mix of
housing tenures, types and sizes to help support the
creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive communities.
This includes meeting the needs of an ageing
population, smaller properties and opportunities for self
build.

Affordable Housing

For those whose housing needs cannot be met through
market provision - Affordable housing is; social rented,
affordable rented and intermediate housing,'® provided
to eligible households whose needs are not met by the
market. Eligibility is determined by local incomes and
local house prices. Affordable housing should include
provisions to remain at an affordable price for future
eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for
alternative affordable housing provision.

% ntermediate housing is described by The National Planning Policy
Framework as homes for sale and rent below market level, such as
shared ownership and equity loans, other low cost homes for sale and
intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing

21



22

Page 30

Cheshire East Council and its partners have continued
to be successful in attracting funding from Homes
England to develop new affordable housing, in which
registered housing providers have benefited from over
£10 million of funding during the period 2016 to 2021 to
fund the delivery of a further 334 affordable homes.

However, more affordable homes are needed to meet
an increasing demand and need to be in the right
location. Housing needs work undertaken for the Local
Plan estimated that the objectively assessed need for
affordable housing was a minimum of 7,100 dwellings,
which equates to an average of 355 per annum over
the lifetime of the Local Plan.'* Planning Policy details
that in residential developments affordable housing will
be provided as follows:

= In developments of 15 or more dwellings [or 0.4
hectares] in the Principal Towns and Key Service
Centres at least 30% of all units are to be
affordable

* In developments of 11 or more dwellings [or
have a maximum combined gross floorspace of
more than 1,000 sgm] in Local Service Centres
and all other locations at least 30% of all units
are to be affordable

We continually review the approaches we are using to
increase the provision of affordable housing. However,
we must acknowledge that the affordable housing
sector has experienced rapid change because of tighter
budgets, development viability and recent changes in
Government policy for more investment.

Empty Homes

Empty homes are recognised as a wasted resource,
depriving people of a much-needed home and
contributing to the need for more housing. Properties
will become empty at some point as part of the normal
operation of the housing market, usually during the
rental or buying process. It is only when properties stay
empty longer than six months without any obvious
signs of renovation or rental that they become 'true’
empty homes. When left empty, they have the potential
to cause blight to local communities, prevent

! Cheshire East Housing Development Study 2015, ORS, June 2015



Page 31

investment and regeneration, devalue surrounding
properties and attract anti-social behaviour.

We have been successful in reducing empty homes by
53% during the lifetime of the previous housing strategy
through direct intervention, information and advice,
enforcement, and policy changes around Council Tax.
Our approach through this strategy is to work with the
owners of empty homes, to support and encourage
voluntary action to bring these homes back into use.
Where co-operation fails, we will determine the extent
to which the empty home impacts on its neighbours and
the wider community, which in turn will inform our
decision whether to intervene using our enforcement
powers.

Our priorities.
Priority:  Stimulate the housing market

As clearly identified within the Local Plan, our aim is to
improve the supply of homes in Cheshire East;
affordable, market and homes to rent. In supporting the
Government’s housing policy approach, we will work to
improve the housing offer through a package of
measures to stimulating the investment in our housing
market to support our continued economic growth.

Demand for homes in Cheshire East is being shaped
by our growth, with the creation of newly formed
households who are unable to access the market
housing and seek options to access affordable housing.
Moreover, we are experiencing demand for smaller size
homes of mixed tenure to meet the need of older
residents looking to downsize and single person
households. As demand from those who are struggling
to find a home increases in conjunction with increases
in household numbers. The Council and its partners will
have to be creative and flexible in securing the levels of
affordable housing that the Borough needs for the
future. This will involve consideration of innovative
forms of affordable housing within the context of
emerging Government policy, including affordable
home ownership.

23



24

Page 32

Priority:  Support regeneration to support quality
of place

Quiality of place contributes to both the economic
sustainability and the well-being of an area and its
residents. As we seek to further support the corporate
aims and objectives that promote our future prosperity -
we must ensure that housing focuses on quality of
design and appropriate development as outlined within
the Council’s Design Guide Supplementary Planning
Document, which can help increase return on economic
and social value to our communities. At the same time
we need to ensure that there is the right mix of housing
available to meet the needs of residents.

To this end, we will maintain our commitment to ensure
the supply of housing continues to be central to
regeneration and renewal of our neighbourhoods,
working directly with our partners in areas of housing
need through facilitating and encouraging sustainable
development of affordable homes.

Priority:  Improve the housing offer for an ageing
population

It is essential that a housing offer is available to our
residents at all stages of their lives, to enable them to
live in a good quality affordable home. With the proven
forecast of an ageing population within Cheshire East, it
is crucial that we have a clear vision and support the
shaping of a housing market for older people that is
responsive to their changing need.

While we will continue to support older people who
choose to continue to live in their home by the further
integration of housing, care and health, there must be
an opportunity for older people to seek to ‘rightsize’
[downsize] and access a choice of affordable housing
of mixed tenure and type and where practical, a well
designed home that is ‘care-ready’ for their future need.
Therefore, we will continue to promote the need for age
friendly housing design in identified areas of need.



Page 33

Priority:  Develop a housing offer to support jobs-
led growth

Cheshire East is part of the Cheshire and Warrington
Local Enterprise Partnership [LEP], who’s vision is to
make Cheshire and Warrington the best performing
economy outside of the South East. The recently
reviewed Strategic Economic Plan sets out the role of
housing in future economic development and replicates
our ambition to increase supply and to make sure that
affordability issues across the authority are addressed.
Working in collaboration can bring forward opportunities
for Cheshire East including the sharing of best practice
and a collective approach to delivery.

As detailed in the LEP, the Constellation Partnership
[formerly referred to as the Northern Gateway
Partnership] is a boundary breaking partnership
between two Local Enterprise Partnerships and seven
Local Authorities, with a unified fast-track approach to
ambitious, plan-led economic development, bringing
further opportunities for housing growth. The Partners
share a common vision: a single economic footprint
creating a coherent investment market, boosted by the
international investment magnet of High Speed Rail
[HS2] connectivity, producing attractive growth
opportunities for investors across the Growth Zone area
including Stoke and North Staffordshire, with a potential
of creating over 100,000 jobs and over 100,000 homes.

To deliver this scale of growth, partners have to ensure
that the growth proposed considers connectivity,
markets, sectoral options and skills but will also
improve quality of life and create access to improved,
sustainable services and facilities. This includes
sustainable local housing growth that drives footfall to
sustain and develop existing town centres that may
otherwise continue to struggle, and by offering high
guality design and innovative build opportunities to
attract new professionals and families and retain
graduates in urban centres.

25



Page 34

Priority:  Support the Medium Term Financial
Growth Strategy™?

The Medium Term Financial Strategy [MTFS] is a
rolling three year strategy which is devised to support

Cheshire East Council Corporate Plan [2017-2020] and
to ensure that the financial resources, both revenue
and capital, are available to deliver the plan, generating
financial stability for the delivery of services.

Housing has a clear role to play in supporting the
delivery of the MTFS, directly through the opportunities
presented to achieve the key community outcomes for
residents and to continue to provide excellent customer
service

'2 Cheshire East Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017-2020



Delivery Plan:

Growth and quality of life

How we will we do this?

[b]
Facilitate the delivery of 355
affordable homes per year

Explore development of Joint
Venture

Use of surplus Council assets

Implement our Brownfields First
across Cheshire East

Planning Policy
Self build and custom build

Attract investors in the
Multihousing Sector

Funding opportunities

Support the development of the
Garden village

Who will help us to
achieve this?
[c]

= Cheshire
landlord
accreditation
scheme

= Elected
Members

= Engine of the
North

= Homes England

= Housing
developers
= Housing

Options Team

= Private Sector
Housing

= Regeneration

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents
=  Spatial Planning

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

Outcomes

[d]
A mix of small and
family sized homes to
meet housing needs,
including overcrowded
families and people
who are looking to
downsize

Development of mix of
housing provision and
opportunities for
increased revenue

Residential
opportunities in unused
Council buildings

Successful
implementation

Facilitate acquisitions

Continue to maintain
register and link with
Spatial Planning

Increased opportunities
for investors

Further opportunities to
attract funding

Support the delivery of
a mix tenure of
Affordable and Starter
Homes

Measure

[e]
Quarterly report on
the number, tenure,
type, size, and
funding of
affordable homes

Project Plan
updates

Quarterly reviews

Project Plan
updates

Quarterly report on
the number, tenure,
type and size

Maintain register /
guidance from
Spatial Planning

Policy
implementation

Direct involvement
in emerging
Masterplan

© N o o bk 0 DN E

When by
[f]

March 2019
March 2019
Strategy lifespan
Strategy lifespan
Annual review
Strategy lifespan
March 2019
2019/20

Ge abed



28

1.

How we will we do this?

[b]
Work with partners on
programmes of regeneration
and renewal within the Borough

Support the Private Rented
Sector housing offer

Work with housing provider and
developers to increase market
and intermediate product sales

Facilitate the delivery of
affordable housing in rural areas
with identified need

Explore collaborative
opportunities

Support providers in funding
application for Estate
Regeneration

Maintain strategic links with
providers as they seek to
diversify their business culture

Who will help us to
achieve this?
[c]

= Cheshire
landlord
accreditation
scheme

= Elected
Members

= Engine of the
North

= Homes England

= Housing
developers
= Housing

Options Team

= Private Sector
Housing

= Regeneration

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents
=  Spatial Planning

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

Outcomes

[d]
Ensure the importance
of the housing offer
remains principal in
jobs-led economic
growth

Maintain the suitability
and attractiveness of
the Private Rented
Sector offer

Improved choice of
affordable housing
options to meet
diversify of need

Meeting rural housing
need

Support aims and
objectives of
Constellation
Partnership

To make sure our
neighbourhoods benefit
from direct investment

Support our partner
providers

Measure

[e]
Specific programme
updates

Policy design /
adoption

Quarterly report on
the number, tenure,
type, size, and
funding of
affordable homes

Quarterly report on
the number, tenure,
type, size, and
funding of
affordable homes

Local Enterprise
Partnership
updates

Providers review
meetings

Providers review
meetings

N o g~ w0 DN PRE

When by
[f]
Strategy lifespan
Annual review
Annual review
Annual review
Annual review
Annual review

Strategy lifespan

9¢ ebed



Priority  Improve the housing offer for an ageing population
Ref:

[b] [c]

HS03




Priority  Develop a housing offer to support jobs-led growth
Ref:

[b] [c]

HS04




6¢ abed

31



Page 40

Health, wellbeing and quality of life

Living in suitable good quality housing is critical to our
health and wellbeing, and provides a base from which
to sustain education, training and employment,
participate and contribute to
the community and achieve a
decent quality of life. Safe and
suitable housing also enables
people to manage their own
health and care needs, live
independently, complete
treatment and recover from
substance misuse and ill-
health, move on successfully
from homelessness and other
traumatic life events. Poor
housing puts pressure on the
health and social care system
through emergency
admissions and use of acute hospital services, delayed
transfers of care from hospital to home, provision of
care packages, and ongoing treatment for ill health.

Our ambition is to improve health through the home.
Co-ordinated approaches to securing access to
housing, commissioning preventative services and
improving the quality of homes will generate positive
outcomes for residents and reduce the burden on the
NHS and other services. We are committed to
stimulating and shaping a diverse, active market where
people with care and support needs, their families and
carers are included and involved in community,
economic and social life.

Housing is recognised in the Care Act 2014 as a
fundamental component of wellbeing. The general duty
to promote wellbeing includes specific reference to
housing; information and advice should include housing
options, local authorities should promote housing that
facilitates choice and control, and multi-agency working
should include work with housing partners. We will
secure opportunities for residents to make informed
choices about their housing, to access and maintain
good quality homes and sustain independent living by
connecting them to services across housing, welfare



Page 41

rights, health, social care, education, training and
employment, focusing on those who need the most
support to achieve independent lives.

The dynamics of the relationship between housing and
health can be complex and require a collaborative and
co-ordinated approach between the housing, health,
social care, voluntary, community and faith sectors.
Health and social care is integrating; we need to ensure
that housing is a key factor in that integration. Our
priority must be to design and commission services with
our partners in Adult Services, Childrens Services,
Public Health, and Partnerships and Communities that
promote choice, control and self help to address health
and housing needs; early intervention to stop residents’
health and housing needs from escalating and respond
effectively to complex needs and people in crisis. Our
strategy and associated commissioning must be firmly
linked to health outcomes for residents, and must build
on the key evidence within the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment [JSNA].

We explore such aspects within the theme of Health,
wellbeing and quality of life, set out our priorities and
what we intend to do at the end of the section through a
Delivery Plan.

Independent Living

For many older people, their preference is to stay living
in their own home. Some however feel unable to
manage in their home and consider alternative options
for housing, whether that is making their current home
more suitable, downsizing, moving to a different tenure,
or looking for housing with support. Community based
independent living can take several forms, from living in
mainstream general needs housing with floating visiting
support for people with low level needs, shared living in
houses or single storey accommodation with on-site
support for those with higher needs and purpose built
supported housing schemes. In extreme
circumstances, older people make a move into
residential / nursing care, normally through need but
sometimes through choice. Supporting people to live
well and independently costs less than residential care
and can avoid emergency hospital admission.

Of course, independent living is critical for people of all
ages as their needs change in response to life events.
There is a growing body of evidence demonstrating that
an accessible, adapted home can make a significant

33



34

Page 42

contribution to improving older and disabled people’s
quality of life. Because low income often coincides with
disability, many disabled people rely on help to adapt
their home. Handyperson services play a key role in
keeping people safe and early intervention, with around
1,500 people each year helped to prevent falls and the
subsequent hospital admissions, as well facilitating
getting people home from hospital.

Major adaptations are also a critical part of reducing the
burden on social care and health, and support provided
by the home improvement agency guides people
through the practical elements of designing
adaptations, applying for grants and appointing
contractors. Over the past 3 years the home
improvement agency has facilitated £4.3million of
Disabled Facilities Grants for 839 disabled people.
Ensuring residents can access adaptations services is
important; collaborative working with occupational
therapists in Adult Services is vital, but we also need to
make sure that people who have a substantial physical
disability, struggle to access parts of their home but
don’t need care, can access the disabled facilities
grants, and that vulnerable people who can afford the
adaptations but need a helping hand with organising
the repairs can access support from the home
improvement agency.

Registered Providers are proactive in working with
tenants who are assessed as needing adaptations,
exploring options for rehousing first before homes are
adapted. There are 309 households registered with
Cheshire Homechoice who are waiting for an adapted
property, of which 114 are waiting for a wheelchair
accessible property. More needs to be done to match
tenants to suitable properties to reduce the number of
requests for adaptations at the start of new tenancies.

Complex needs

Despite increasing interventions to prevent
homelessness, we are still experiencing an increasing
number of individuals approaching as homeless tonight
or within 28 days.

Evidence suggests that the complexity and level of
chaos is increasing for those households who do end
up requiring the services of the Homeless Team. Of
particular note is the number single people



Page 43

experiencing mental ill health who are becoming
homeless because of a lack of intermediate options to
support them following any short inpatient stay in local
hospitals. While some individuals will fall within the
Council’s statutory homelessness duties as mental
health is a priority need, however in some
circumstances this may not the case for many single
person households, many of whom have complex
needs.

We have worked with colleagues from health agencies
on several projects to improve the services available to
people experiencing substance misuse issues and / or
mental illness. The joint approach identified a need for
recovery based accommodation programmes across
the Borough and subsequently 32 bed spaces have
been made available for people who are still using
substances but need a stable, safe space to begin their
recovery

In 2016, we explored the need for
more joined up services and
accommodation for people
needing to step down from mental
health services into the
community. This led to the

24 introduction of a new working
protocol between Housing and Health and additionally
saw the introduction of two link workers and some
emergency accommodation provision. Housing is keen
to maintain and develop these strong relationships with
health colleagues to provide successful pathways for
people with complex and chaotic lifestyles.

For most residents of Cheshire East accessing and
maintaining accommaodation comes without too much
difficulty or they may rely on friend, family and wider
networks to support them when things don’t go to plan.
For some others, they need the helping hand of
accommodation based support or floating support to
assist them in getting their housing situation on track.

Homelessness

Access to suitable housing advice and effective
housing interventions are vital in promoting health and
wellbeing of all residents, Our homelessness
prevention service is embedded at the forefront of our
Housing Options service to provide advice, support or
advocacy before homelessness arises This approach
has been acknowledged as effective as we have

35



36

Page 44

progressed through the ten challenges associated with
the Government’s Gold Standard model. This model is
supported by the National Practitioner Support Service
and gives Local Authorities scope for continuous
improvement. Cheshire East continues to prioritise
activities around preventing homelessness and has
seen the number of cases prevented from becoming
homeless increase year on year with 571 households
prevented in 2014; 785 in 2015 and 842 in 2018.

The Government has provided legislation in the form of
the Homeless Reduction Act to put a framework around
prevention activities including a duty upon Public
Authorities to refer people to the Council who they feel
are at risk of homelessness. The new Act will be
implemented in April 2018 and will see a change in
which preventative services are offered to as well as
increasing the length of time that services offered have
to be in place for. We anticipate that will significantly
increase the number of individuals who approach or are
referred to the Housing Options Team for assistance
and increase the resources required to meet the new
duties.

The most common reasons for households who are
accepted as homeless within the remit of the Housing
Act 1996 are: they have been asked to leave by family
or friends, they have experienced domestic abuse, or
have come to the end of an assured shorthold tenancy.

It is imperative that we continue to focus our work
around proactive intervention in these areas to try to
avoid the homelessness occurring.

Our prevention activities are most 800
effective by finding suitable alternative 700
accommodation for households’ due 600
to the priority awarded through the 500
Cheshire Homechoice Allocations 400

Policy. As detailed, over the past 3 300
years we have directly helped 2,198 200
households through our

homelessness prevention.

100
0

The Allocations Policy underpins the
ability to move people who are in
housing need to appropriate social
housing. With approximately 6,500 registered for
housing needs each year and only an average of 1,300
properties available annually it is vital the policy strikes
the balance between supporting sustainable, settled

Homelessness prevention

B Able to remain in
existing home

M Assisted to obtain
alternative
accommodation

2016



Page 45

neighbourhoods whilst giving priority to those people
who are in urgent housing need.

Housing quality

Poor housing can contribute towards the prevalence of
many preventable diseases and is connected to injuries
due to falls particularly in older people. Household
overcrowding can result in an increased risk in the
spread of infection. Poor housing conditions have also
been identified as having an adverse effect on mental
health.

The private rented sector has seen rapid growth and is
now the second largest tenure behind home ownership;
owner-occupations 126,339; private rented 21,622;
social housing 18,275%. It offers a flexible form of
tenure and meets a wide range of
housing needs. It contributes to
greater labour market mobility and
Is increasingly the tenure of choice
for young people. The Council plays
an essential role in quality
assurance in this sector, and
through information, guidance and
enforcement of housing legislation.

We are intervening in around 300
single-household private rented
properties each year, but there is a
concern, like other areas of the
country, that tenants are under-
reporting disrepair due to concerns
about their security of tenure; more
needs to be done to encourage
tenants to report issues and provide support to
safeguard their tenancy.

Older people are more likely to live with chronic health
conditions which are exacerbated by poor housing and
most will spend a greater amount of time at home. Most
older people are home owners [with Cheshire East at
81%, the highest proportion in the North-West]; when
an ageing population and dwindling incomes combine
there are consequences for adult social care and the
NHS as lower income older home owners struggle to
meet the costs of home repairs and maintenance.

3 Census 2011

37



38

Page 46

The Council has successfully operated a policy of home
repair grants and loans for vulnerable people for a
number of years. Between 2012 and 2017 the Council
has invested nearly £7million into improving the homes
and lives of over 1,450 vulnerable households in
Cheshire East. The Policy has also drawn in over
£2.1million of match funding from Government grants,
Registered Providers and charitable trusts.

Central Government investment in housing repairs
ceased in 2010, so continued local investment is
testament to the Council’s appreciation of the impact
that the quality of housing has on people’s lives. A new
grants and loans policy has been adopted in 2017 with
a focus on residents achieving outcomes around having
a place to live independently that they can afford to
heat, which safeguards their wellbeing.

Houses in multiple occupation

Houses in multiple occupation [HMOs] are a vital
component of our housing offer, providing
accommodation for tenants who are unable to afford to
rent a self-contained property, or who enjoy the
flexibility that renting a room in a property offers to
them. HMOs have been a growth sector of our rental
market.

The greatest concentrations can be found in Crewe and
Macclesfield; that said; HMOs still only represent
around 0.3% of the housing stock. Most tenants in
HMOs are unrelated and live separate lives; this can
make management of tenancies more challenging
compared to a single let property, and risks to health
and safety are higher in shared accommodation, as
tenants have less regard to the welfare of other
occupants. In larger HMOs, the risk of death from fire is
sixteen times higher than a single let property.

Hoarding

As more services are delivered into people’s homes,
hoarding is becoming more apparent. Whilst many
people may think of themselves as hoarders, for most
the trait doesn’t actually do any harm. For some, it
reaches extremes that can affect their health and even
put their lives at risk.

The scale of the hoarding problem is unknown, with
many people able to go about their daily lives



Page 47

seemingly unaffected, but it impacts on their social lives
and people become isolated as they keep people away
from their home. Hoarding disorder is a recognised
mental health condition, and resembles obsessive
compulsive disorder [OCD] in many ways, but on the
other hand is also distinct from OCD, as many people
who hoard don’t experience negative or unwanted
thoughts about hoarding, and distress only occurs
when the person is forced to discard. Hoarding is
complex and requires a collaborated and integrated
approach across services to be able to effectively
support people to break the cycle of hoarding.

A multi agency practitioner’s forum has been integrated
into the Local Adults Safeguarding Board structure, and
a toolkit has been developed to aid professionals
working with people who hoard. There remains a gap in
services for hoarders, with a clear need for practical
one to one support to provide support and coaching to
reduce the amount of belongings and to engage with
other services.

Gypsy and Travellers

The Government’s overarching aim is to ensure fair and
equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilitates
the traditional and nomadic way of life of Travellers
while respecting the interests of the settled community.
Local planning authorities should ensure that Traveller
sites are sustainable economically, socially and
environmentally to ensure access to health and
education services and employment, integration and
social inclusion within local communities.

We have worked sub-regionally with partner local
authorities to obtain an assessment of need reflected in
our Local Plan Strategy [Policy SC7 Gypsies and
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople], based on the
findings of a survey undertaken in 2014. In addition, the
Local Plan [SC7] sets out the considerations that
should be taken into account in considering future
proposals for Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling
Showperson sites.

We are in the process of updating our assessment of
need, again with sub-regional partners in preparing a
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment,
following a change in national guidance in 2015. We
are also preparing the part 2 of our Local Plan, the Site
Allocations and Development Policies document, which

39



40

Page 48

will provide further detail and consider the allocation of
sites to meet future need.

Affordable warmth

A warm, dry home is fundamental to good health.
Whilst residents rarely identify themselves as being in
fuel poverty, they will experiences a range of problems
that arise from being unable to adequately afford to
heat their home, including difficulty paying their energy
bills, risk of disconnection, cold, damp home and
respiratory illnesses. There
isn’t one single cause of fuel
poverty, leading to the need for
a range of approaches and
agencies to promote affordable
warmth. Older people, children
under 5 and people with health
problems and reduced mobility
are at greater risk of ill health
from cold housing; in 2015/16,
there were 231 excess winter
deaths in Cheshire East.

Respiratory diseases have a
marked seasonal effect, with
48% more people dying from respiratory disease in the
winter of 2015/16 than in the non-winter months. The
seasonal effect on deaths from circulatory diseases
was not large with a 12% increase during the winter
months; in 2015/16 there was a larger proportion of
deaths from dementia and Alzheimer’s disease [16%].
With a growing ageing population and the prevalence of
dementia, it is important that we address affordable
warmth with this group, ensuring that they are on the
best energy tariff, that they can control their heating

and can heat their home, and that they can afford their
energy bills.

Residents using fuels other than gas pay more to heat
their home. 24.3% of properties in Cheshire East are
not connected to the gas grid, with around 9,000 homes
using electric to heat their home, and around 8,300
using oil. The largest off-gas area is rural Nantwich,
where the incidence of fuel poverty is slightly above the
Cheshire East average of 10%.

Research by National Energy Action and the Campaign
to Protect Rural England has found that people in rural




Page 49

areas are paying as much as 55% more to heat their
homes than people in urban areas. However, the
highest incidences of fuel poverty in Cheshire East can
be found in urban areas — in parts of Crewe, there are
an estimated 28.8% households in fuel poverty,
compared to the Cheshire East average of 10%.

Our priorities.

Priority: Promote independent living

While the term ‘independence’ is often used in the
context of older people and ageing and how this
specific group of the population can maintain
independence in their later years when poor health and
disabilities are more prevalent — actually promoting
independence is important across all stages of life,
young children, throughout adulthood and into old age.

Therefore, working with our key stakeholders we will
seek to highlight a number of initiatives which will
provide choice and opportunities to sustain
independent living for all our residents.

Priority: Commission housing support for people
with complex needs

A new commission was established by Housing for
April 2017 to provide supported accommodation and
floating support for over 300 individuals at any one
time.

The first 5 months of the new commission has
evidenced that there is significant demand for the
services with over 415 referrals to supported
accommodation and 165 to floating support. It is too
soon within the contracts to analyse the impact of these
support services on improving people’s housing
pathway but the new providers are working
collaboratively with Housing services to provide high
guality outcomes.

41



42

Page 50

Priority: Prevent Homelessness

A focussed response to preventative processes and
pathways will be delivered through our Homeless
Strategy 2018-2021 and has four key aims for the
Council and partners to act upon through the lifetime of
the Strategy. The four broad aims are:'*

= Help people who are homeless to secure
appropriate affordable accommodation

= Enable more people to remain in their home and
prevent them from becoming homeless

= Provide interventions so no-one should sleep
rough in Cheshire East

= Ensure adequate support is in place to help
people maintain and sustain accommodation

Priority: Challenge poor quality housing

Housing conditions vary greatly depending on tenure.
Cheshire East shares the Government’s view that
home owners have the primary responsibility for
maintaining their own homes, but recognises that age,
vulnerability, disability and low income can affect
people’s ability to carry out repairs.

People living in private rented housing are more likely
to be living with lower quality standards; although the
private rented sector locally is generally good, there are
isolated examples of poor housing conditions where the
landlord is not fulfilling their legal responsibilities and
statutory intervention is necessary to safeguard the
health and safety of tenants. However, the social
housing stock remains very good - although not without
isolated problems, with Registered Providers having
improved their homes to the Decent Homes Standard.

Damp housing is a frequent cause for concern for
tenants, as it is associated with an increased risk of
respiratory illnesses and impacts on emotional health.
Action will be taken through the lifetime of this strategy
to improve the health and wellbeing of tenants through

* The broad aims of the Homelessness Strategy may be subject
to change following the strategy consultation



Page 51

education for both tenants and landlords about heating
and ventilation.

Mandatory licensing for HMOs is a small but important
part of our management of the private rented sector,
with less than 50 out of the estimated 600 HMOs in
Cheshire East needing a licence, and Government
plans will significantly increase the mandatory
regulation in the sector when new regulations are
introduced. All HMOs are subject to regulations
governing how they are managed and enforcement of
these regulations forms a key part of our role in
managing the private rented sector.

Priority: Promote affordable warmth

We will continue to make sure our residents are
provided access to specific information to benefit from
measures for improved affordable warmth. This will
include increasing our strategic links with the health
sector and JSNA in terms of intelligence to further
support our approach.

Changes to energy efficiency regulations in the private
rented sector are a significant challenge. From 01 April
2018, it will be unlawful to let a new tenancy, or renew
a tenancy, in the private rented sector if the property
does not achieve at least Band E on the Energy
Performance Certificate. From 2020, this will apply to
all existing tenancies. This has the potential to
significantly reduce the availability of private rented
stock, and increase our regulatory role in enforcing the
regulations.



Delivery Plan: Health, wellbeing and quality of life

1.

How we will we do this?
[b]
Ensure home adaptations and
assistive technology are
delivered efficiently

Innovative approaches to reduce
non-elective hospital admissions

Develop the home improvement
agency’s role

Preparing clients as tenancy
ready and / or maintain a
tenancy

Promoting independence for
care leavers

Promoting independence for
residents with learning and / or
autism and physical disabilities

Commission specialist support
for people with complex
hoarding problems

Who will help us to
achieve this?

[c]
=  Adult Services
=  Carer and
Support
Providers

=  Children and
Family Services

= Elected
Members
= Housing

Options Team
= NHS CCG
= NHS CWP
= Public Health

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents

=  Strategic
Housing and
Development

= Voluntary and
community
sector

Outcomes

[d]
People can live
independently in their
own home
People can manage
their health and care at
home

People have choice
and control over their
lives

People are less likely to
be admitted to hospital

People are able to
return quickly from
hospital to a safe and
suitable home

Measure

[e]
Performance
Monitoring

Performance
Monitoring

Service review

Reduction in early
tenancy termination

Monitor of
increased provision

Monitor of
increased provision

Monitor of
increased provision

o gl R W N

When by

[f]
Strategy lifespan

Annual review
March 2019
Strategy lifespan
Strategy lifespan
Strategy lifespan
March 2019

ZG ebed



1.

How we will we do this?
[b]
Continue to effectively
commission and manage the
programme of Housing Related
Support projects across the
Borough

Direct provision of Key Support
Workers to support individuals at
risk of homelessness from
hospital discharge

Work with housing providers in
shaping permanent move-on
accommodation, with continued
measured support the ensure
sustainable outcomes

Establish good quality,
intelligence and useful data on
complex needs

Ensure the workforce and / or
providers are equipped and
supported to effectively
understand and support
multiplicity of need

Who will help us to
achieve this?

[c]
= Adult Services
= Carers and
Support
Providers

= Children and
Family Services

= Elected
Members
= Housing

Options Team
= NHS CCG
= NHS CWP
= Public Health

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

= Voluntary and
community
sector

1.

Outcomes

[d]
Reduction of recurring
customers into
commissioned services

Work with Clinical
Commissioning Group
and Public Health to
increase in positive
move-on from all
commissioned
pathways

Improvements in health
and wellbeing
inequalities
experienced by
customers with
complex needs of
commissioned service
users

Measure

[e]
Contract
Management
performance data

Reduction in
homelessness
referrals

Service user move-
on performance
data

Maintained
evidence base

Training
opportunities /
Performance
Development
Review

o > N BPE

When by

[f]
March 2022

Annual review
March 2022
Annual review

Annual review

£G abed



46

1.

How we will we do this?
[b]
Implement the actions of our
new Homelessness Strategy
2018-2021

Working with our partners to
help improve the health and
wellbeing of homeless people
and identify those who are at
risk of homelessness

Continue working with partner
agencies to deliver our
successful ‘No Second Night
Out’ initiative

Continue to develop
partnerships with housing
providers across all tenures,
including the private rented
sector

Who will help us to
achieve this?

[c]
= Adult Services
= Carers and
Support
Providers

= Children and
Family Services

= Elected
Members
= Housing

Options Team
= NHS CCG
= NHS CWP
= Public Health

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

= Voluntary and
community
sector

Outcomes

[d]

1. Support individuals and

households threatened
with homelessness to
find suitable housing
before they become
homeless

Design a service in
which delivery is a
personalised approach,
help people find
landlords willing to
house them and work
closely with other
agencies, such as
health and social
services to strategically
prevent the threat of
homelessness

Take rough sleepers off
the streets by offering
immediate shelter and
to support them into a
more stable
environment and seek
more permanent move-
on accommodation

Increase access to
permanent safe
accommodation for
homeless applicants

Measure

[e]
Strategy Action
Plan

Homelessness
application data

Contract
Management

Increase in related
housing options

d w0 N E

When by

[f]
March 2021

Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan

G ebed



How we will we do this?

[b]
Ensure the continued success of
the Cheshire Landlord
Accreditation Scheme [Gold
Standard]

Home improvement agency
service to support home owners
to maintain their home

Deliver the Home Repairs and
Adaptations for Vulnerable
People Policy

Encourage tenants to reports
poor housing conditions

Promote landlord and agent
responsibilities to reduce
incidences of poor housing and
drive improvements in housing
management

Enforcement action in the rented
sector

Work collaboratively with other
agencies to identify and tackle
crime and poor housing
conditions

Monitor the impact of HMOs on
communities and plan for
changes to HMO regulations

Develop education tools and
awareness campaigns for
tenants and owners to
safeguard health and wellbeing
in housing

Who will help us to
achieve this?

[c]

= Adult Services

=  Carers and
Support
Providers

= Children and
Family Services

=  Communities

Team

= Elected
Members

= Housing
Options Team

= NHS CCG

= NHS CWP

=  Public Health

= Registered
Housing
Providers

= Residents

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

= Voluntary and
community
sector

Outcomes

[d]
Improved housing
standards

Reduce health
inequalities as a result of
poor housing

Principles of good
management practices
and property standards

To enable homeowners to
source contractors,
accessing funding and
providing technical advice

Concentrating our grants
and loans on tackling
essential home repairs
and affordable warmth

Work with partners to
seek funding and develop
neighbourhood-focused
approaches to improving
housing conditions

Effective partnership
working with fire Services,
, Immigration Services
and Environmental Teams

Successful monitoring /
support the HMO sector

Measure

[e]
Performance
Monitoring

Contributory factors
to Cheshire East
Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Performance
Monitoring

Customer reporting
data

Conditions data

Performance
Monitoring

Partnership working

Performance
Monitoring

© N o g r 0w N B

When by

[f]
Strategy Lifeplan

Annual review
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan
Annual review

Annual review

GG ebed



48

How we will we do this?
[b]
Further improve links with the
health sector

Develop and deliver an action
plan to implement the NICE
Guidance®

Promote traditional methods of
improving the thermal comfort of
homes

Investigate the role of new
technologies in improving
energy efficiency

Improve our knowledge base

Lever affordable warmth funds
and initiatives

Work with energy suppliers to
identify people in fuel poverty

Monitor the impact of the energy
efficiency regulations

Deliver seasonal campaigns to
raise awareness of affordable
warmth solutions

15 . .
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

Who will help us to
achieve this?
[c]

= Adult Services

= Carers and
Support
Providers

= Children and
Family Services

= Elected
Members

= Housing
Options Team

= NHS CCG

= NHS CWP

=  Public Health

= Registered
Housing
Providers

=  Residents

= Strategic
Housing and
Development

= Voluntary and
community
sector

Outcomes
[d]
Reduction in excess
winter deaths

Residents’ can
maintain their health
and wellbeing

Residents can afford to

heat their home

Contribute to the

reduction of CO2 gases

w

Measure
[e]
Clear and effective
multi-agency
partnerships and
referral networks

Reduction in excess
winter deaths

Successful
engagement

Improvements in
energy efficiency

Effective targeting of
resources to people
at risk of fuel poverty

Data of residents
able to carry out
heating
improvements

Energy Company
Obligation
measures

Data review

Successful
engagement

@ @ N @ & & @ N =

When by

(f]
Strategy Lifeplan

Annual review
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan
Annual review
Annual review
Annual review
Strategy Lifeplan
Strategy Lifeplan

9G ebed



Page 57

Conclusion

Our Housing Strategy is making a significant
contribution to achieving the aims and objectives of the
Corporate Plan and the Medium Term Financial
Strategy, resolving to support the drive for ‘Growth and
quality of place’ and ‘Health, welling and quality of life,’
as we deliver on the resident focused outcomes.

Our approach is based upon the continuation and
building of strong relationships with our partners to
further improve the quality, quantity and choice of
housing within Cheshire East, through meeting the
aspirations and needs of all our residents both now and
in the future - enhancing place and wellbeing. In doing
so, we will continue to maintain sensitivity to any
environmental or social issues from new developments
and work to mitigate these in consultation with the
existing local communities.

New housing supply must reflect the needs and
aspirations of a more inclusive community, having
regard to prospective economic growth. As such,
working with our partners we will focus on our
resources in seeking imaginative ways of utilising all
available housing assets to maximise housing options
for local people, facilitating innovation in the scope of
housing provision — to ensure housing initiatives will
stimulate the housing market and bring a mix of tenure
and type of homes for our residents.



Page 58

Delivering the Strategy

Central to making this Housing Strategy a success is to
ensure we effectively plan, measure and monitor how
we will deliver the priorities detailed within this
document, which will be achieved through the outlined
Delivery Plan within each strategic theme.

The Delivery Plan will contribute to a wider portfolio of
strategies; policies and procedures, for example Public
Health; Adult Services; Children Services; NHS Trust
Commissioning and Community Safety. Therefore, it
remains essential that the plan is distributed to all key
stakeholders through an agreed reporting mechanism.

The monitoring of the Delivery Plan will be undertaken
by Cheshire East Strategic Housing and Development,
through completion of services performance
management framework and progress reports will be
submitted quarterly to the Directorate Senior
Management Team and published annually to support
the Strategy aims and objectives.

The strategic objectives within the Delivery Plan will
remain valid for the lifespan of the strategy, although
regular reviews will be undertaken to ensure they are
tangible and reflective of changing associated national,
regional and sub-regional strategies.



—pE—



This page is intentionally left blank



1uawissassy yoedw] Aujenb3 “£70Z-8107 A21j0d SUISNOH [19UNo) 1sB3 341Yysay)

siapiroid SuisnoH pauaisi8oy =
YyesHliqnd =

Suluue|d pooytnoqysiaN =

suondQ SuUISNOH =

siodojanaq SuisnoH =

diyssauned

asudialuz [e207 UOJBULIIBAA PUB BAIYSIYD =

SJuUSpIsaJ Ise3 aaysay)  a

ISNJ] Uollepunod
SHN diysiaunied [BUIA) PUB S41YSBY)

SPIAIIS YNPY =

{s@auaipne ayy10ads ‘siaujied
‘sto]]1ouno) ‘saakojdwa O1jqnd jesouas -8-a)
éslapjoyayels ulew ayj aJe oym

Page 61

Suinl Juapuadapul 910Wo.d  w
J4no jo Aujenb anoadiwi 0} uonesauasal oddng  «

YIWIBAA B|QBPIOYY 210WOId =

aoeyd

SSauUsSSajaWoy JUuaA3.d n

uoilejndod

8uiade ue oy Jay0 Buisnoy syl ancadw|

yimou3 ps|-sqol uoddns 01 oo Suisnoq

A8ajens

YIMOJD) |BIDURBULS WIS winIPa|A 9y 1oddng  w

spasu xa|dwos

yum ajdoad 4oy poddns Buisnoy uoISSIWIWOY)

guisnoy Ayjenb uood agusjeydy

194w 3uIsnoy 8yl a1.|nWINS  w

*S9WI02IN0 puU. SWIe [BIIUSD 3y} ‘AJBWIWINS U] "UB|d |eD0T 3SBT BJ1YSaYD) 8Y] JO SAWO0INO

padisap ay) Buiasiyoe ul Juswdojanag pue SuisnoH 218a1e.1g syoddns 3 "SIDIAISS pale[as Buisnoy Jo Aaaijap ay)

pue Sutuueld 104 Juawndop Asy e si A8ajesis Suisnoy ay "sispjoyayels pue sisuped ‘(15unod syl Ag sJeaA aal IXau sy}
1370 13w 3q ||Im Y8noJdog ay3 Jo spasu BuIsnoy syl Moy 1no $33s ASs1eJis SuisnoH HRBIP Mau 3Yy] '9T0Z-110Z A8a1eilS
3uisnoH snoiasad 3y} adejdas 01 Suiyaas s| yaiym [uoneynsuos 104 yeuql £207-810z ABazens Suisnoy 1se3 aaysayd

10z ABajens Buisnoy
ISe3 adiysayD

e
ASajens ays jo Adod e yaene ases|d

(uonesiuesio

93 JO Sswie I3pIM 33 Y1IM Ul 3} 31 Moy pue
ajenidoasdde se sanssj jeuolzesado ¢ sawoa3no
‘swie ay3 jo uondudssp yauuqg e apnpul)
judwissasse 1eduw ay) jo 193lgns pue apiL

Y {23endoadde se yJew) Jusawnoop
uolsinay Sunsixg ManN Sunsixe ue Jo uoIsINGI/3UIISIXa /MBU B SIY3 S|
Vs
CRITSETS ainpasolid Adijod uopung ueld ASajens (a1eudoadde se yew) yuswndop jo adA )
TT UOISIBA | £107 4290120 L1 2ieg
uiuuapuajo uuAq
JusBWISSasse
peaysuymn uasey SupjeLIapUN WEa) 40 SIaqIBW JyI0 3uisnoy 2189348 9JIAIDS
8uaqsien uaie) A P 3 q
Aspjong piesso | juswissasse 104 3)qisuodsal 19310 pea] uollelIauaday pue yimolo 1uswpedag
U0 uondudsaq :T uonIBS
Jsp3 aa1ysay>
f. = INYO4 LNIINSSIASSY LOVdINI ALITYND3I

~ -




Page 62

Juawssassy 1edw| Aljenb3 ‘€z0zZ-8107 Adljod BuisnoH j1paunod 1se3 alyssyd

ON

é(asimiayilo
anoud 03 32uapIAl ySnoud aney noA op)

sawo21no jenbaun jo A1o1siy e ausyy sj ¢Aljenba

ajowoud 01 uonde pairasdie oyidads Aue asaya S|

ON

{¢s4a2y30 104 saniuniioddo

Auap Jo dnous sejnanued suo anoaey 3 [jim “8-3)
¢ PO12944E aq 01 Ajd)ji| SSIHUNWIWOD

10 sdnoJ8 juaiayip usamiag suone|al iy

SO

£SJUBISWNIID
10 Spaau ‘S31Is1IdIIRIRYD [ENPIAIPUL
uo paseq suolsiIAP Supjew apnjoul 3 saoq

ON

¢sdnous awos 10y
awi021N0 Jo 1eduwii JUdIdlIp B 3¢ 243Y3 PINO)

‘suonrdo 3uisnoy 4o uolstrosd pue SSaUSSI|BWOY JO uoijuanald [10109s

paiuaJ a1ealrd yum syul| pasosduwi (Buisnoy a|gepogie mau Jo uolsiaoad 3yl y8noayl 1se3 adiysayD JO SUpIsad ||y

£MOY pue 11}3ua( 0} papuaiul sl Oy

Suiuueld |eneds

siapiaoad BuisnoH paualsiSay
YileaH alqgnd

Suiuue|d pooydnoqysianN
suondQ 8uisnoH

siadojanaq SuisnoH

103095 Alejun|oA pue Ajunwiword
sdiysiaulied pue salUNWWO)

S9VIAIBS UBIP|IYD

SjuapISaY 1583 241YSay)

diysisaupied

3s14diaiug 207 UOIBUILIBAA pUB JIYS3YD

{snoqe paisy
siapjoyjels ayl apnjoul Jou Aew Jo Aews siy])
épaidayje st oym

SujuaaJds [eniu| 1z uondIas

Suisnoy 21893e.18
8uruueld [eneds
S19S[ BJINIBS

SI2qUIRN Pa109|3
101336 Alejun|oA pue Ajunwiwio)
sdiysiaulied pue SaIHUNWWO)
S@2IAIBS UBJIPIYD

~Ipunoy

[ JSDF 3414s3YD

INYOd LNINSSISSY LOVdINI ALITYND3




Page 63

1uawssassy yoedwi| Aujenb3 "€70z-8T0TZ Ad1j0d BUISNOH |1DUNOY) 1sB3 BJ1Ysay)D

/

's1onpoud diysisumoswoy 40 13440 ay1 ySnouyl Suisnoy s|gepioe ssadoe

03 ajdoad 4a3unoA Joy uosinoad axew o1 paau ays sysiysiy ASa1e41S S1yL ‘al0jaiay] ‘[9T0T 4290130 SI9puaT]
98edHO|A 104 1oUno)] BulsnoY INOGE SUIIIUGD JO ISNLIS| Ajlwey e Suinieys SulAejap aue ‘ualp|iyd aney Apealje
1U0p oym ‘p 03 T€ pase synpe § ut T punose ‘Ajjeuonien ‘[ST-yT0Z A3Ains Suisnoy ysiSu3] ‘%9y 01 paseasou
PeY SIY1 ST-¥TOT AqQ 1401935 pajual a3enud 3yl ul Panl| -7 Pase asoy) JO %y ‘S0/y00T Ul "sieak uay 15e| 3y}
19A0 103935 pajual s1ealld a3 ul spjoyasnoy 1a8unoA jo uoiodoud ay3 uj asealdour uedIUSEs e udas sey ajoym
e se ‘AjjeuorieN "uoljepowwiodde pajuas aieAld aaisuadxa 210w ui Jo syuased Yyum Ja3uo| ulewsal o} Suiaey
“13ppe| Suisnoy sy uo 338 03 }ndiyip AjSuisealoul 1 Suipuly ae spjoyasnoy 1o sjenpialpul se ajdoad 1a8uno,

'sdnou3 a8e 45Y10 01 spasu

9JINIDS PUB FUISNOY JUBJIaHIP dARY AW oym ‘Sanijigesip pue swajqo.d yijeay xajdwod yum ajdoad 4O siaquinu
8uisealoul aq o3 Ajay1| aue a4ay} uorieindod SutaBe ue Yy "pouad ue|d ay3 1an0 anA0qge pue g8 pade uoliendod
92U} Ul aseasdul % €T e pue ‘snoqge pue g9 pade uoliejndod 8yl ul 3SEUdUI %G9 B DARY [[IM ISBT 341YSay)

1eY3 X33U00 d1ydesSowap sy} uIyIM 135S si SIY3 - S31L1S UB|d [BD0T 3YL SY ‘0E0T PUB 0TOZ U29Mmiag ‘Suimoss

st 9|doad Jap|o Jo Jaquinu 3y} "epuaSe [eD0| PUB [BUOIIRU 3Y] UO YSIY St SBIIAISS 48D |B120S pue yyjeay uo
dJuapuadap 3anpaJ pue yyeay || Jusald 0} s901AIBS PajeISaIUl 310W SPIRMO] SUIAOW pue ‘BuUInl] Juspuadapul
3uiioddns pue Suiag|jam pue yijeay Suizowodd uj Jo1oe) A3y e se pasiugodal si Buisnoy Ayjenb poon

"a8e uo peduw aalyisod e sey ASa1e.43s SuisnoH ayy

_

28y

oN S9A

1IN0 paLued
JUSLIDA[OAUL/UOI3RYNSUOY)

syieyd ‘sajqe) ‘sydead a1 ‘qusawindop siyl o1 sadipuadde se apnpdul
03 ysim noA jey; uonewoyut [euoiiippe spinoid aseald (aanreHjenb pue aaneluenb) ¢s8uipuy anoA 1ioddns 03 aAeYy noA op aduapiad Jeym

2N A uoI1BIUBLIO [eNX3S | AN A ey | AN A uswusisseal opusn
AN A SN1E3S JIWOU0I3-010S | AN A Xas | AN A Ayuwistew g AoueuSaug | AN A Aujigesiq
. 3 diyssauyed oSy
ie NE] uoidi@
AN A 2/ /N A J9leg B uolsi[ay | AN A A1 'g a8eLLIEp /N A
m| (o aseajd) ¢sonsua1eIRYD dYI2ads asay3 uo Joedwi aAeSau [e3udlod JO [BnYIE UR BIaY) S|
oancy
(JSDF d41ysay>
,/ X INHO4 LN3INSSISSY LOVdINI ALITYNDA

S




12 awissassy 1oedw Alenb3 "€z0z-8T0Z Ad110d SuiSNoH |1DUN0Y 35B3 241Ysay)

‘jeudsoy wouj swoy sjdoad Su111a8 Sunney|dey [[am se ‘suoissiwpe |eydsoy wusnbasqns

9yl pue sjjej Juanaid 03 pad|ay JeaA yoea ajdoad gOg‘T punoJe yum ‘uciiuanialul Ajses pue aes sjdoad 3uideay
ul 3j04 A3y e Aejd s321A435 uossadApuey ‘swoy Jiay) 1depe 03 djay uo Aja. ajdoad pajqesip Auew ‘Aujigesip

UM SDPI2UI0I USLJ0 SWOdUl MO| asnedag "d4if J0 Aljenb s sjdoad pajqesip pue Japjo Suiaoidwl 03 uoIINGHIIU0D
Juesiudis e Sew ued swoy poaydepe ‘BjqIssadde ue eyl SulleiiSuowap S3UsPIAS JO Apog SuiMmous e SI a4ay ],

A UETETS)

yum ajdoad Jap|o JO siaquinu Ul ISesJoUl Ue pue ‘Sanss| asnsiW 92UBISHNS PUB |OYOJje SABY OS[e Wwoym JO Auew

‘swajqoad yyeay |elusw yum s1adaa|s y8nod Jo siaquinu Suisealdul :sjdwexa 104 'SaNnss| Yyljesy [eluaw yum

$4325N 921AJDS JO J3qUWINU Y] Ul 3seasou) ue Suizodal aJe Ajjedo] pue Ajjeuoileu sjeuolssajosd pue ‘Japiosip yljesy

|[BIUSW UoOWWOD e sey uoiie|ndod |euolleu 3y} JO %9T punody sjueual Suishoy |e1dos aq o3 s|doad psjqesip Mijiqesig
-uou se Aj@l| SB 92[M] 3JB PUB ‘SBUWOIUI J3MO| ABY 0} pual — sainljiqesip Jo a8ued e yum — o)doad pajgesiq

‘suolleidepe spaau pue ‘Spasu 413yl 40} 3|GRUNS JOU SI 2WOY JUJINI 419yl 1BY] |934 J9SN Jleyd|aaym auo

15e3| 1e Sululeluod Sp|oyasnoy Jo %GT Punoty "AYndip 1noylim Joop uol) 3y y8noay)y pue 01 198 01 Jieydjaaym
e Suisn aUOaWOS MOj|e J0u Op pue[Su3] Ul SAWOY JO %Hg 19A ‘suasn dieydjaaym aie uonendod MM 8yl Jo %
punoue ‘3jdwexa 104 ‘satyjigestp yum asjdoad 1o) uisnoy jo a8epioys pasiugodal Ajjeuoiieu e si 343yl awl) awes
U1 1Y "uswitedwl uOWWOI 1s0W 3yl 3ulaq Aljiqow YuUm ‘Anjigestp e aaey dN 2yl ul ajdoad aAl ul U0 1SOW |y

Page 64

Va "Ajjigesip uo peduwi saausod e sey A8a1es1s SuUISNoH sy

"S2AI] uapuadapul anayae

03} Joddns 1sow a3y} pasu oym asoy} uo 3uisndoy ‘uswAo|dwsa pue Suluiely ‘uolieanpa ‘aled [e1d0s ‘yijeay
‘sySia suejam ‘Buisnoy ssoJde s32IAIDS 01 Wayl Sundauuod Ag 8uial Juapuadapul uieisns pue sswoy Ayujenb
poo8 uielulew pue ssadde 03 ‘Suisnoy J1ayl IN0Ge SI2{0YD PBWIOLU] B¥ew 0} SJUapIsaL 10y salunuoddo aindass
(1M 3N “sdaulded Buisnoy yum aom apnpaut pjnoys Supdom Aduage-13nwi pue ‘|oJuod pue 331042 saieil|ioey
1ey1 uisnoy ayowoud pinoys saliioyine [e20o| ‘suolldo Suisnoy apn|dul pjnoys adIApe pue uollewloul ‘3uisnoy
34nsua 0} ‘sisulied Jno yUm Supom Ul JUSWHWWOD 1o Ajde3)d sauljino A8a1eu1S Sy1 ‘SISALBI| 3Jed JO SWUS) U]

"SS2USSI[AWOY puk puewap Suisnoy Uo 103443 a|qIssod 1sujede Suilediw

AAaiisod ‘syyauaq Jo 1d1328J Ul 4O / PUR SAWOJUI MO| UO 3Je OYM SP|O Sie3A Gg- QT 10 UOIIEPOLUILLIOIIE
10 uoisinoad ay3 uj sisuped Jno YyUM SuplAOM INUIIUOIT ||IM 3M 1eY] Ul — WI0JDI 3Je)[am JO sadua|eyd

3y3 031 103[gns aq Aew oym sp|o JeaA G¢ 03 8T 4no Joj poddns Jo uoisiroad ayl ul Jayunyg s808 A3a1eais ay L

—punoy
@cw a41ysay>

g

INYO4 LNISSISSY LOVdINI ALITYND3



Juswissassy 1oedw| Ajljenb3 *£z0Z-8T0T Ad110d BulsnoH [1ouno? ise3 aliysay)

"Alunwwod 51uy13 Ajouly pue sjoe|g ayi o 1oddns ul a4 j0 Aujenb pioddns 03 aunseaw 0} ssadde pue 3uisnoy
d]qepJoyje Jo uoisiroid syl spiemoy syaom Ajaaiioeold Agalens sy ‘ai04aiay] “sdnoud Aljenbs Jayjo pue sdnois
J1UYIS/S3IN1ND JUBIHIP SS0J0E J1§2Uaq B sapino.d 1334ew qof SAIDBIIIE UE Ul 3IOM 0] SSI32e yum Suisnoy
Avijenb 3uadap ‘1502 Mmoj Jo Alljige[ieAe BY) ‘si3Aojdwa / sassauisng Jog ansst Ay e sl SIY1 1S[1YyM pue SUOAIIAD
$10344€ JUSWUOUIAUD pue 3] JO AljenD "s|aAa| AljigepJioyse ‘Jeindiuied ul ‘pue ‘quawAojdwa o1 ssadde ‘afe

40 swua) ul suidlled uonessiw jo Sulpueisiapun ue sapirosd ‘Ueld Jtwouod3 218a1e1s diysiauned astdiaiu]
8207 uoj3uLLIEA PUB BUIYsaYD ay1 sjdwexa Joy ‘ASa1e41s BuisnoH ay3 Suipoddns 32uspIA3 Jo aseq ayl ysSnoay

Va "92e4 UO Joedwi snllisod e sey A8siedls SuisnoH syl aosey

‘94| o Aujenb pue Suiaqam ‘yieay

S,|BNPIAIpUL UG 1D3jje [eluBWIIIap e sey 1l se ‘@sn yans o} yoeosdde annoeoud syl anuiauod oy s| aA1a[qo pue
swie s A391eJ}s 3y} ‘Yans sy [T1Z07-8T07 AS831R41S SSaUSSI|AWOH 58T 341Ysay?)] [9150Y ssajawoy Alesodwa} Jno
ulyuM S3YSIuU O Jaquinu pue uollepowwodde adA) 1sepjealg pue pag Jo asn syl Ul uoIINpal aAIssaIgoid e uaas
sey siedh ¢ ay] ‘syuated 9)8uis / Ajiwey pue sajeway Jueudaad 3|8uls 10} Ajjrinadss ‘UOIIEPOWIWIOIIE 1sepjeasg pue
pag Aleiodwal Jo asn ay3 8anpas 031 Aj1da4Ip JJom 3 “suolido Suisnoy paseatdul Jo uoisinoid 3y] S1e[10e) 0] SI
wie Ay A8a1e43S BuisnoH ayl ‘TZ0Z-8T0Z A8a1ells ssaussajawoH ayl Jo Aianjap oY1 Sutuoddns Ajpaaip ySnoayy

Ajusazew xg AdueuSaud

Page 65

Va ‘Ajlusaiew pue Adueusaud uo edui aaisod e sey Aaieis SuisnoH ayy

diysiauyied
/ paijiluspl 1oeduwl [elIUBISHIP ON {1 13 o8eLle

/ palIuap! 10edwii [BIFUSISHIP ON juawusisseal Japuan

‘Aduage Juswanosdwi swoy ay3 wody 1oddns ssadoe ued sijedad ay) Suisiuesio yum puey Suidjay e pasu

1nq suoleydepe ay3 piogje ued oym ajdoad ajqeiau|nA Jeyl pue ‘syueis saiilj1oe) Pa|gesIp syl SS920e ued ‘aed
Paau 3,uop Ing swoy 413y} jo sued ssadoe 01 3188n41s ‘Aujigesip |eaisAyd |erpuelsqns e aney oym ajdoad jeyy auns
SYelW 0} pasu 0s|e am Inqg ‘|eBUA ] $921AIBS Y NPY Ul 5151desay) [euoilednddo YHm Supjom aalleloqe||od “quenodwl
S1 $921/U8s suollejdepe ssa20e ued spuapisal ulnsuy "sjdoad pajqesip GEQ 104 SYURLD SBIN|IDRS P3jqesig

J0 uoljiwg yF paleyjioe) sey Aousde Juswaroldwl swoy ayl siedh ¢ 1sed ayl JOAQ "S1012eJU0D Sunuiodde

pue syuesd 4oy SulAjdde ‘suoiierdepe Sulusisap jo sjuawa|d [edildeld syl ydnoays sdoad saping Asuage
yuawanosdwi swoy ay3 Aq papiaoid poddns Lied [ea13d e osje aJe suoleidepe Jofew ‘sySiysiy ASe1e41S oY) sy

~puncy
Jsb3 a4iysay)
/&\ IWYHO4 LNINSSISSY LOVdINI ALITYND3I




Page 66

uaWissassy 1oedw| Aujenb3 ‘€z07-810Z A1j0d SUISNOH {1UN0?) 1seT JIysay)

aleqg oN SOA

(31911 9sea|d) ¢auawssasse 1edwi N} 03 pa3doid

‘Slueua) 0} 12341p spew juswAded Hjouaq 3|8uls B Se UP3ID) |BSIDAIUMN 4O 1IN0 Buljjol

JY1 ‘so1ey d3uemo||y SuIsnoH |edo7 01 8uisnoy [e1o0S Ul SpueUa} 104 yauaq Buisnoy Sujliwi| ‘2184 UOIIEPOLIWOII.
paJeys ayy 01 g¢ Japun ajdoad aj3uls 10} ad2uemo||y SuisnoH jes07 Suinwi| {(,ded ujausd, ayl) aAladal

UBD P[OYasnoy e 1.yl s3}SUsg UleLiad JO JUNOWER [[RISA0 31 SUIdNpaJ {wooapaq aJeds aaey 0} pawaap ale Aayy
1 sujsuag Jamoj Suindal syueua) Suisnoy eiaos :Buipnjaul ‘ansst ay3 Suipunodwiod e SW043J S1RLIM JIYUN4
'S1B9A UN0J 40 USZO04) 2Je SHISUS] 988 SuPOM puR 3SI4 0] SNUITUOD S[DAI| JUSJ SB UISIOM 0} SNUIIU0I 01 A|Yl

S uonenls ayl 1eyl adua||eyd e sl 243y) ‘Yans sy ‘jjejuoys syl dn oxew 03 Suiney lueual 3Yj YIIM ‘Siual ueyl
Jamo| Ajgesspisuod aie — Suisnoy pajuad ajeald ul syuewie|d o3 pied g ued yaym 1gauaq uisnoy Jo junowe
341 21ejnd(ed 01 Pasn 3Je YdIym ‘salel (YH7) souemoljy SuisnopH |ed0o7 4o 3didda4 ul 9soy) ‘Sjdwexs 104 ‘wuojay
aiejlam Jo swwesSoud Jeuolieu 3yl ysnoayl ss3uaj|eyd Jo Jaquinu e 3oe) Aew syjausq o 1di9ded ul 1o swodul
MO| B UO S1USpISaY "1se] a41ysayd ul Suisnoy puij 03 Jndasp AjSuisesudul 1 Suipuly sue sawodul moj uo ajdoad

snlejs J21Wou0l9-0120§

ysnouyy pauoddns aq 03 AJjige syl aaeYy siaded Jeyl ainsua 03 sarunyoddo ayy s1ysiysiy A8a1eu1s
331 ‘S49p|oySxe1S 4310 pue $32IAIS Ajlweq pue uaJppiyd ‘Synpy yum Supom diysisuped 1pa41p ano ydnodyyl

‘s1a4ed uo 1edwi aaysod e sey A8ael1s Suisnoy ay g

siaie)

"payuspl 1edwi [eIIUSIIYIP ON

uoljejusliio jenxas

payiuap! 1edwi [BIUBIBYIP ON

X3g

SOUS S S

paluSp! 19eduwi [BIIURISHIP ON

J9119q 8 uo132Y

‘pagejueapesip Suiaq aq 1ySiw sdnoud saienbas sejnoiued Jayiaym pue ‘swiy sano SuiSueyd aq

WYSIW SIYl Moy pue SIawolsnd 4no jo 3j1;04d Y3l Jo dsUas poos e aAeY am 1.y} 2INSUI 0} ‘BIBpP 1USI|D JOUUOW pue
2an1ded om moy anoJadwil 03 SNUIUOI 03 PIBU B S| 2J3Y] 3BY3 JB3|D SI Ul ‘210WISYMNS "W welS0od Ju3wa[119say
SUOSIdd 9|gBJISU[NA UBUAS S JuBWUIBA0S aY3 Japun sea8njaJ 1oy moddns pue Suisnoy apinoad 03 suaulied yum
YoM 01 Buinuiluo) "'ydnosog ay3 uj saydiid Jusuew.ad 10} pI3U OU PIIJIIUSPI YDIYM JUSWSSISSY UOIIEPOIIOIDY
J3jjaned] g AsdAD ayl malAad pue UieUIBL O} SNUIUO0D [[IM M ‘Saul|Ino ASs1es1S 9yl Se UBA0BI0N

—punoy

,/,,fm,;w‘cm a41ysay>

~.

-

Y04 LNIINSSISSY LOVdINI ALITYND3I




Page 67

Juawissassy 10edw) Allfenb3 "€z0z-8T0T Ad1j0d SuisnoH J1unoy 1se3 allysayd

b
LTOC 439qQUBAON ¢¢ a1eqg - . :}JOuBIs 921AI3S JO peaH
/T0T 19qWI3A0N 77 aleq :33ousis 19010 peaq
PR IS HOTp)
Isp3 241ysay>
/ = INHO4 LNIINSSISSY LOVdIAII ALITYNDA

R




Page 68



	Agenda
	4 Housing Strategy 2018-2023 - Approval to Consult
	Cheshire East Housing Strategy 2018_2023 Draft for consultation [v1]
	Equality Impact Assessment Form


